### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

PECEIVED JAN 3 0 2015 S CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS

State of Wisconsin, Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Appeal No. 2014AP002226

One 2013, Toyota Corolla/s/le four-door, LICENSE #437MXR, VIN #2T1BU4EEXDC038839, ITS TOOLS AND APPURTENANCES,

Defendant, Steven T. Baumgard and Gladys A. Vogel, Defendants-Appellants.

> Appeal from the Order of the Circuit Court for Walworth County The Honorable Kristine E. Drettwan Presiding Walworth County Case No. 13-CV-657

### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS

#### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

I. Is a grandmother who lent her grandson \$20,000 to purchase a new car with the expectation of repayment and who was a joint title holder when it was purchased and when it was seized for purposes of section 961.55(1)(d)2, Wis. Stats. an owner of the vehicle?

The circuit court answered no.

II. Was the forfeiture of a \$22,500 vehicle a violation of the Excessive Fines Clauses of the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions when the offense involved the sale of \$175 of marijuana?

The circuit court answered no.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The facts in the case are straight forward and the issues lend themselves best to briefing. The appellants do not request oral argument but are certainly not averse if the Court would find it would be helpful.

The appellants submit that the opinion in this case meets the criteria for publication under Rule 809.23(1) and should be published. The facts are similar to an unpublished case (<u>Peloza</u>) in which this Court found that it was "patently obvious" that the forfeiture was disproportionate. The publication of the opinion will provide better guidance to circuit courts in applying the ownership and proportionality tests that are integral parts of all

forfeiture cases. The seizure and forfeiture of assets under section 961.55 is a serious and ongoing matter and affects the lives of many people whether accused of crimes or not. These cases involve important constitutional rights that must be guarded by the courts.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### Nature of the Case

This is a forfeiture action arising under section 961.55, Wis. Stats.<sup>1</sup> Steven Baumgard, a student at U.W.-Whitewater exercised terrible judgment when he decided to sell very small quantities of marijuana on three occasions while in a car. He was charged with three counts under section 961.41(1m)(h)1, Stats. The vehicle, which is titled jointly in the names of Steven and his grand-mother, Gladys Vogel, was seized.

As an innocent joint owner, Mrs. Vogel, who had lent Steven \$20,000 toward the purchase price is seeking the return of her share of the vehicle's value. All charges against Steven were dismissed after completion of a deferred prosecution agreement. He is seeking the reversal of the forfeiture order on the grounds that the value of the vehicle is grossly disproportionate to the offense.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Unless otherwise indicated, all statutory references are to the 2013-14 edition of the Wisconsin statutes.

#### Procedural Status

The Walworth County Sheriff's office seized the vehicle on June 14, 2013. (R. 2, ¶1). Over two weeks later, the Walworth County District Attorney's office filed this action on July 2, 2013. (R. 1). Criminal charges were not filed until September 24, 2013. <u>State v. Steven T. Baumgard</u>, Walworth County case number 2013-CF-444 (R. 14, Ex. 11). By stipulation, the circuit court stayed this action pending the resolution of the criminal charges. (R. 12). The criminal charges were dismissed in their entirety on June 7, 2014. (R. 14, Ex. 11).

The circuit court conducted an evidentiary hearing in this action on July 10, 2014. (R. 19). The court granted judgment in favor of the State at the conclusion of the hearing. (R. 19 at 60:1-2). The written Order Granting Forfeiture was entered on August 4, 2014. (R. 15).

#### Statement of Facts

Steven Baumgard is a student at the U.W. Whitewater. (R. 19 at 26-27). When not at school, he lives with his mother in Jefferson, Wisconsin, a block away from his grandmother. (R. 19 at 24) The court may take judicial notice that he has no prior or subsequent criminal history. <u>http://wcca.wicourts.gov/index.xsl</u>.

Prior to the purchase of the subject vehicle, Steven owned a 1998 Infinity I30, which he used to get back and forth from school and work. On April 24, 2013, Mrs. Vogel and Steven purchased a

2013 Toyota Corolla from Smart Motors in Madison. (R. 14, Ex.
5) Steven traded in his Infinity and was credited with \$2,500 toward the purchase price. (Id.) Mrs. Vogel paid the dealership the balance of \$20,000. (R. 14, Exs. 5 and 6; R. 19 at 18-19). Mrs. Vogel and Steven were named as joint owners on the title. (R. 14, Ex. 7).

Mrs. Vogel's \$20,000 was a loan to Steven, which she expected to be repaid. (R. 19 at 20-21). Steven had repaid \$350 before the seizure. (Id.). Between the date of the seizure and the forfeiture hearing in July 2014 he was only able to repay an additional \$200 leaving a balance due on the loan of \$19,450. (Id.)

The defendants stipulated at the start of the hearing that the State could prove the allegations of the criminal complaint by a preponderance of the evidence. (R. 19 at 4) The only issues in dispute at the hearing were: (a) whether Gladys Vogel is an innocent joint owner of the car and (b) whether the forfeiture of the \$22,500 vehicle under the circumstances would constitute a violation the Excess Fines Clauses of the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions. (R. 19 at 4:25-5:8).

The affidavit of the seizing officer fleshes out the criminal complaint. He avers that Steven sold 3.46 grams of marijuana to a confidential informant (CI 1055) for \$60 on April 23, 2013. The purchase took place in Steven's Infinity. (R. 2 at ¶3). The

4

affidavit goes on to state that CI 1055 purchased 3.46 grams of marijuana on May 1, 2013. (Id. at ¶4). CI 1055 made one additional purchase of 3.43 grams for \$55 on May 8, 2013. All of the purchases took place in the parking lots of either Wal-mart or Sentry. (Id. at ¶¶3-5). While they could have met in CI 1055's vehicle, CI 1055 walked over and met in Steven's car. (Id.).

#### ARGUMENT

# I. GLADYS VOGEL IS AN INNOCENT JOINT OWNER OF THE COROLLA.

The standard of review on the question of ownership is *de novo*. Ordinarily, where the facts concerning ownership are disputed, the issue is one of fact and the appellate courts will defer to the circuit court's findings unless they are clearly erroneous. <u>State v. Kirch</u>, 222 Wis. 2d 598, 606-07, 587 N.W.2d 919 (Ct. App. 1998).

However, in this case the material facts are essentially undisputed. The circuit court's findings do not depend on weighing conflicting testimony. Where the facts are undisputed, the conclusion to be drawn is one of law. <u>GMAC Mortage Corp. v.</u> <u>Gisvold</u>, 215 Wis. 2d 459, 470, 572 N.W.2d 466 (1998). An appellate court owes no deference to a lower court on questions of law; the appellate court reviews those questions on a *de novo* basis. <u>City of Muskego v. Godec</u>, 167 Wis. 2d 536, 545, 482 N.W.2d 79 (1992).

The circuit court does have discretion in determining whether a forfeiture would be appropriate. However, a circuit court erroneously exercises its discretion as a matter of law when it applies the law incorrectly. <u>See Sullivan v. Waukesha County</u>, 218 Wis. 2d 458, 470, 578 N.W.2d 596 (1998); <u>Sunnyside Feed Co.</u> v. City of Portage, 222 Wis. 2d 461, 471-72, 588 N.W.2d 278 (Ct. App. 1998).

Where an issue presents a mixed question of fact and law, the appellate court must separate the two and apply the appropriate standard of review to each one. <u>Peplinski v. Fobe's</u> <u>Roofing, Inc.</u>, 193 Wis. 2d 19, 531 N.W.2d 597 (1995). The determination of whether an issue is one of fact or of law is itself a question of law. <u>See State v. Byrge</u>, 2000 WI 101, ¶32, 237 Wis. 2d 197, 614 N.W.2d 477; <u>State v. McMorris</u>, 213 Wis. 2d 156, 165, 614 N.W.2d 477 (1997).

- A. The facts concerning the innocent owner defense are undisputed.
  - 1. It is undisputed that Mrs. Vogel had no knowledge of and did not consent to the use of the car for the sale of marijuana.

Mrs. Vogel testified that she had no idea that Steven had sold marijuana while inside the car. (R. 19 at 22). She certainly did not approve of the sale of the substance nor did she consent to the use of the car for that purpose. (R. 19 at 23). The deputy who testified at the hearing said as far as he knew Mrs. Vogel had not participated in and had no knowledge of Steven's activities. (R. 19 at 14-15). The circuit found that Mrs. Vogel had no knowledge of and did not consent to the use of the car in any criminal activity. (R. 19 at 55).

# 2. Only Steven drove the car and paid for related expenses.

Mrs. Vogel does not claim that she used the car. The car was purchased for Steven's use for school and work. (R. 19 at 26-27). Naturally, Mrs. Vogel did not keep any possessions in the car. There was never any dispute that Steven paid for gas, insurance and maintenance and kept some of his possessions in the car. (R. 19 at 9-10). However, that alone does not establish complete dominion and control over the vehicle. Steven had the right to use the car, but did not have sole control over the <u>sale</u> or the disposition of the Corolla.

# 3. Mrs. Vogel has the largest financial stake in the vehicle.

The Corolla was purchased with a combination of cash from Mrs. Vogel and the trade-in of Steven's 1998 Infiniti I30. (R. 14, Ex. 5). The purchase contract with Smart Motors shows that Steven's trade-in was valued at \$2,500 and that a balance of \$20,000 was due on delivery, which Mrs. Vogel paid. (Id.). The May 2013 statement for Mrs. Vogel's checking account verifies her payment of \$20,000 to Smart Motors. (Id., Ex. 6).

There is no question that the \$20,000 was only a loan and not a gift to Steven. (R. 19 at 20). Before the seizure he had already repaid \$350. (R. 19 at 20). Between the date of the seizure in June 2013 and the hearing in July 2014, Steven had only managed to make one additional payment of \$200, leaving a balance of \$19,450 due and owing to his grandmother on the date of the forfeiture hearing. (R. 19 at 21).

### 4. The Corolla was purchased as joint property.

The Corolla was not a mere gift to Steven; Mrs. Vogel expected to be repaid. One means of securing her interest in the vehicle was to retain an ownership interest. On the purchase contract, the "prospective purchasers" are listed as "Steven T. Baumgard and Gladys A. Vogel." (R. 14, Ex. 5). At the dealership, the Corolla was titled jointly in Steven's and Gladys' names. (R. 14, Ex. 7).

### B. An "owner" must be more than a mere title holder.

The State and the circuit court took an excessively broad view of what constitutes a "nominal" owner under <u>State v. Kirch</u>, 222 Wis. 2d 598, 587 N.W.2d 919 (Ct. App. 1998). In <u>Kirch</u>, this Court faced an issue of first impression, i.e. what is the definition of an "owner" under section 973.075(1)(b)2, Wis. Stats. (1997-98) for purposes of the innocent owner defense to forfeiture of a vehicle? The Court found the section to be analogous to section 961.55(1)(d)2 and concluded that the legislature intended the word to have the same meaning in both sections. <u>Id.</u> at 605.

## 1. <u>Kirch</u> looked to the fundamentals of property ownership.

The State in <u>Kirch</u> offered the Black's Law Dictionary definition of owner:

"The person in whom is vested the ownership, dominion, or title of property; proprietor. He who has dominion of a thing, real or personal, corporeal or incorporeal, which he has a right to enjoy and do with as he pleases, <u>even to spoil or destroy it</u>, as far as the <u>law permits</u>, unless he be prevented by some agreement or covenant with restrains his right."

Id. at 604 (quoting Black's Law Dictionary, 1105 (6<sup>th</sup> ed. 1990)(emphasis added). Since there was no Wisconsin precedent, the Court looked to federal cases for guidance. After reviewing certain cases, the Court concluded that the cases favored the State's interpretation. Id. at 605.

The basic rule is that having bare legal title to property, in and of itself, is insufficient to be treated as an "owner." Indicia of ownership include: possession, dominion and control and a financial stake. <u>Id</u>. at 606 (citing <u>United States v. One 1981</u> <u>Datsun 289ZX</u>, 563 F. Supp. 470 (E.D. Penn. 1983)). A person who holds title but lacks any other indicia is a mere "nominal" owner.

Black's Law Dictionary defines "dominion" as follows:

"Generally accepted definition of 'dominion' is perfect control in right of ownership. The word implies both title and possession <u>and appears to require a</u> <u>complete retention of control over disposition.</u>"

Black's Law Dictionary, 436 (1979) (emphasis added).

In contrast a "nominal" owner is one whose ownership is:

"Titular; existing in name only; not real or substantial; connected with the transaction or proceeding in name only, not in interest."

Id. at 946 (definition of "nominal").

## 2. The court in <u>Kirch</u> looked to federal law for guidance.

The court in <u>Kirch</u> reviewed the facts of three federal cases in reaching its decision. 222 Wis. 2d at 606. In <u>United States v.</u> <u>One 1990 Chevrolet Corvette</u>, 37 F.3d 421 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1994), the government seized a Corvette worth \$42,000 from the driver under federal drug seizure laws. The government claimed that its purchase could be traced to the sale of drugs. <u>Id</u>. at 421. A woman who held legal title claimed that she had purchased the car and sought its return as an innocent owner. The district court found that she lacked the financial means to buy the car and that she, in fact, had not purchased it. At the time of the seizure the driver told the agents that they could not confiscate the car because "he had it in his aunt's name." <u>Id</u>. at 422. The court concluded that the woman had no legal interest in the car and was a mere nominal owner.

In <u>United States v. One 1981 Datsun</u>, 563 F. Supp. 470 (E.D. Penn. 1983), a father, Joseph Esposito, Sr., claimed to be the innocent owner of a Datsun allegedly used by his son, Joseph Esposito, Jr. to facilitate a drug purchase. <u>Id</u>. at 471. The title listed the owner as "Joseph Esposito" with no designation of "Jr." or "Sr." The car was insured in the same manner. The district court said that "the most telling factors" governing ownership concerned the purchase. <u>Id</u>. at 475. In rejecting the father's claim, the court found that the father did not pay for the car, it was merely titled in his name. The third federal case the court in <u>Kirch</u> reviewed was <u>United States v. One 1971 Porsche Coupe Auto</u>, 364 F. Supp. 745 (E.D. Penn. 1973). The case involved a father who purchased the car and held title but who had given it to his son as a gift. Consequently, the father no longer had any financial stake in the

vehicle and was "only the nominal owner of the Porsche" <u>Id</u>. at 748.

# 3. <u>Kirch</u> shared the same factual situation as the three federal cases which found the claimants to be nominal owners.

<u>Kirch</u> shares material facts in common with the three federal cases, namely that the claimants had no financial stake backing up their title. In <u>Kirch</u> the truck was titled in the driver's mother's name despite that fact that her son had paid for it. "She stated at the hearing that the truck was listed in her name because Walter 'was undergoing a bankruptcy and he said that he could not have a vehicle in his name." 222 Wis. 2d at 601. That situation demonstrates exactly the meaning of a "nominal" owner—an owner in name only. The mother was not a true owner because she had no financial interest in addition to legal title.

## 4. Mrs. Vogel is much more than a mere nominal owner.

Unlike the title holders in <u>Kirch</u> and the three federal cases on which it relied, there is no dispute that Mrs. Vogel paid the lion's share of the purchase price of the Corolla. There is no dispute that the \$20,000 was not a gift to Steven. It was a loan and she expects repayment.

Mrs. Vogel's joint ownership means that Steven does not have complete dominion and control over the Corolla as a matter

of law. As Black's Law Dictionary reminds us, dominion includes total control over the disposition of the property. Steven, having only joint ownership, could not sell the Corolla without Mrs. Vogel's consent and would not be entitled to the entire proceeds of a sale.

# C. Forfeiture analysis must take into account dual ownership of property.

It is axiomatic that a single piece of property may be owned by more than one person. It is as true for property subject to forfeiture as any other. Two of the most influential Federal Circuit Courts of appeal, the Second and the Ninth, have recognized that separate ownership interests must be recognized even if neither of the owners is innocent. In <u>Van Hofe v. United States</u>, 492 F.3d 175 (2007), a husband and wife jointly owned their home. The husband cultivated marijuana plants in two basement compartments. One housed the home's oil tank and the other one contained the hot-water heater. Both were closed off with large curtains. <u>Id</u>. at 180. The wife testified that she was unaware of the plants. After agents obtained a warrant and discovered the plants the government sought the forfeiture of the home.

The wife asserted an "innocent owner" defense. The circuit court's opinion leaves little doubt that Mrs. Van Hofe's one-half ownership interest would not have been subject to forfeiture if

she were innocent. What is significant is that, even though the court found that she was not entirely innocent, her "culpability [fell] at the low end of the scale, which is best described as turning a blind eye to her husband's marijuana cultivation in their basement." <u>Id</u>. at 189. Because the seriousness of their offenses differ sharply, the court held that Mrs. Van Hofe was entitled to a separate analysis of proportionality with respect to her ownership interest in the home.

In <u>United States v. Ferro</u>, 681 F.3d 1105 (9th Cir. 2012), Robert and Maria Ferro were married. In 1994, Robert was convicted of possessing explosives, a felony that barred him from possessing firearms. Before his conviction, he conveyed all of his assets to his wife, including a number of firearms. Years later, in 2006, the ATF raided their house and seized over 700 firearms as well as ammunition, grenades, machine guns and silencers, much of it hidden under floors or in walls. The seized property was valued at \$2.55 million. It comprised a combination of contraband and collectible items, some were gold-plated and others were very rare specimens from the early twentieth century. The court found that the latter category were not the sort of inexpensive firearms that would be used in the commission of crimes. Maria objected to the forfeiture of the entire haul, arguing that she was an innocent owner. The district found that she was not entirely innocent and ordered the

return of 10percent of the value of the property to her. Both the government and Mrs. Ferro appealed.

The Ninth Circuit agreed that she was not an innocent owner, but reversed the decision on the grounds that her culpability was considerably less than her husband's and consequently, she was entitled to a separate evaluation of proportionality with respect to her ownership interest tailored to the degree of her guilt. The case was remanded for further proceedings.

While the ultimate issue in these two cases involved the proportionality of a seizure, they remind us that property can be jointly owned and that each owner's interest must be considered separately. The recognition of joint ownership has to apply with even greater force where one owner is wholly innocent.

# D. Mrs. Vogel is entitled to the innocent owner defense with respect to her proportionate interest in the Corolla.

For the reasons discussed earlier, Mrs. Vogel has an ownership interest in the Corolla. Steven is an owner, but not the <u>sole</u> owner of the vehicle. Even if, hypothetically, Mrs. Vogel had been a limited participant in the marijuana sales, <u>Van Hofe</u> and <u>Ferro</u> teach us that she would have a constitutional right to a separate analysis of the proportionality of the forfeiture of <u>her</u> joint ownership interest based on <u>her</u> culpability. Clearly, as an

innocent owner, she has a constitutional right to her proportionate interest in the vehicle.

Joint ownership of property is recognized in seizures where both owners have some degree of culpability. Since guilty owners are afforded rights to their respective ownership interests, it would make no rational sense that innocent owners would not be protected with respect to their joint ownership rights.

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