RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 03-05-2015 COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II CLERK OF CO

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

APPEAL NO. 2014AP002226

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

One 2013, Toyota Corolla/s/le four-door, License #437MXR, VIN #2T1BU4EEDC038839, Its Tools and Appurtenances,

Defendant,

Steven T. Baumgard and Gladys A. Vogel,

Defendants-Appellants.

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

ON APPEAL FROM A VEHICLE FORFEITURE ORDER ENTERED BY THE HONORABLE KRISTINE E. DRETTWAN, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WALWORTH COUNTY, BRANCH III

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FIND STEVEN BAUMGARD TO BE THE OWNER OF THE 2013 TOYOTA COROLLA AND ORDER THAT VEHICLE FORFEITED?

Trial Court answer: Yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither publication of this court's opinion nor oral argument is necessary in this case. The issues presented are adequately addressed in the brief and under the rules of appellant procedure, publication of this decision is not appropriate because it is a one-judge appeal. *See* Sec. 809.23(1)(b)(4), Wis. Court Rules and Procedures.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts in addition to those cited by the Defendant-Appellant, hereinafter Gladys Vogel and Steven Baumgard, will be included within the argument section of this brief as needed.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ENTERED AN ORDER FORFEITING THE 2013 TOYOTA COROLLA.
 - A. Standard of review and applicable legal principles.

Wisconsin Stat. § 961.55 provides in relevant part:

961.55 Forfeitures. (1) The following are subject to forfeiture:

(a) All controlled substances or controlled substance analogs which have been manufactured,

delivered, distributed, dispensed or acquired in violation of this chapter.

(b) All raw materials, products and equipment of any kind which are used, or intended for use, in manufacturing, compounding, processing, delivering, distributing, importing or exporting any controlled substance or controlled substance analog in violation of this chapter.

• • • •

(d) All vehicles which are used, or intended for use, to transport, or in any manner to facilitate the transportation, for the purpose of sale or receipt of property described in pars. (a) and (b) ..., but:

••••

2. No vehicle is subject to forfeiture under this section by reason of any act or omission established by the owner thereof to have been committed or omitted without the owner's knowledge or consent.

••••

4. If forfeiture of a vehicle encumbered by a bona fide perfected security interest occurs, the holder of the security interest shall be paid from the proceeds of the forfeiture if the security interest was perfected prior to the date of the commission of the felony which forms the basis for the forfeiture and he or she neither had knowledge of nor consented to the act or omission.

. . . .

(3) In the event of seizure under sub. (2), proceedings under sub. (4) shall be instituted promptly. All dispositions and forfeitures under this section and ss. 961.555 and 961.56 shall be made with due provision for the rights of innocent persons under sub. (1)(d)1., 2. and 4.

Any property seized but not forfeited shall be returned to its rightful owner....

In a vehicle forfeiture proceeding under Wis. Stat. § 961.55, the state must prove to a "reasonable certainty by the greater weight of the credible evidence that the property is subject to a forfeiture." Wis. Stat. § 961.555(3). Additionally, Wis. Stat. § 961.56(1) specifies: "It is not necessary for the state to negate any exemption or exception in this chapter.... The burden of proof of any exemption or exception is upon the person claiming it."

Whether a party has met its burden is a question of law which this court examines without deference to the circuit court's conclusion. However, in doing so, this court must accept the circuit court's assessment of the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be given their testimony. *Jones v. State*, 226 Wis.2d 565, ¶61, 594 N.W.2d 738 (1999).

Where, as here, the facts regarding ownership are disputed in a forfeiture proceeding, the ownership question is a factual one, and the court will defer to the circuit court's finding unless the court concludes that the court clearly erred. See Tri-Tech Corp. of Am. v. Americomp Servs, Inc., 2001 WI App 191, ¶13, 247 Wis.2d 317, 633 N.W.2d 683 (where facts are disputed, question of ownership

is a factual issue), rev'd on other grounds, 2002 WI 88, 254 Wis.2d 418, 646 N.W.2d 822.

Whether the civil forfeiture of Baumgard's vehicle violated the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution, presents an issue that this Court reviews de novo. *See State v. Hammad*, 212 Wis.2d 343, 348, 569 N.W.2d 68, 70 (Ct. App. 1997).

> B. The trial court correctly concluded that Steven Baumgard was the owner of the forfeited vehicle as that term is used in Wis. Stat. § 961.55.

In July of 2013, the state started a forfeiture action against Gladys Vogel, the Toyota Corolla, and Vogel's grandson Steven Baumgard. R1; R2. The forfeiture petition alleged that both Gladys Vogel and Steven Baumgard were the Toyota Corolla's "registered owners," and that the Toyota Corolla was used by Baumgard to facilitate the delivery of marijuana on three occasions in violation of Wis. Stat. § 961.55, and was, therefore, subject to forfeiture under § 961.55(1). R1; R2. The state agrees that Vogel's grandson's drug offenses were committed without Vogel's knowledge or consent.

One of the issues at the forfeiture hearing held on July 10, 2014, and of this appeal, is whether Steven Baumgard or Gladys Vogel is the "actual" owner of the

Toyota Corolla for purposes of the vehicle forfeiture statute.

Following testimony at the July 10, 2014 hearing, citing State v. Kirch, 222 Wis.2d 598, 587 N.W.2d 919 (Ct. App. 1998) the trial court agreed with the state and concluded that Gladys Vogel was a "nominal" owner and that the "actual" owner of the vehicle for forfeiture purposes was Steven Baumgard. The Court stated:

[T]he Court looks for guidance from State v. Kirch, which…really is the benchmark here for the Court and for the parties to use in trying to determine whether or not a person is an owner of a vehicle for the purposes of a vehicle forfeiture "innocent owner" exception.

The Court directed this Court to look at relevant factors as possession, title, such control and financial stake. So when I look at those items and I look at the facts that have been presented to me here today, first of all, we have a defendant, Mr. Baumgard, who committed and that has been stipulated to by the admission of the criminal complaint, the fact that it was later dismissed because of an agreement, he worked as a CI, doesn't negate the fact that he committed these offenses. And each of these offenses carries a maximum penalty of \$10,000 and three and a half years in the prison system or both. So we're talking thirty in potential fines and over ten years of imprisonment here.

The testimony that I received from Deputy Winger was that when he spoke to defendant Baumgard on July 14th of 2013, Defendant Baumgard said that he owned the Toyota. He said that grandma had bought it for him. I'm just saying gramma here - it's Ms. Vogel. That Ms. Vogel had bought it for him and that he's paying her back. He said he pays the insurance. He pays for the gas. He pays to maintain the vehicle. He said she does not drive it. He did not live with Ms. Vogel. When the vehicle was taken he took items out of the vehicle. When the deputy ran under the TIME system who owned or who was registered and had the vehicle titled in their name that's exhibit..1..it came back to both Ms. Vogel and Mr. Baumgard. And then low and behold three days later Mr. Baumgard signs over his interest in the vehicle to Ms. Vogel and a new title is signed. When the deputy spoke to Ms. Vogel over the phone on the following day after the title transfer, June 18th, she told the deputy her car was in her name as of a couple of days ago and she did not to have any items taken out of ask the vehicle ... Ms. Vogel testified that they live at separate addresses, although it sounds like he comes and goes from her house a lot. She said she wrote a \$20,000 check to Smart Motors for the car. He was to pay her a certain amount each month, although she told him to pay what he could. He did make a payment on May 5th of 2013, and he made a payment on October 18th of 2013. So one was made before the seizure and one was made after the seizure. She also testified she did not know about his criminal activity and did not consent to that. And I have no reason not to believe that. I don't think she knew anything about what he was doing with the car that she bought for him. She testified she has her own vehicle which is not the Toyota and she has not had to buy another car after the Toyota was seized. She also testified that Steven traded in his car on the purchase price of this Toyota and she told him he could have it for school and work and yet he had testified it's his car. He pays for the gas. He pays for the insurance. He pays to maintain it. She doesn't drive it. For all practical purposes this is his car.

When I look at the purchase agreement, the Infiniti, the '98 Infiniti that was actually the car that was used on that first buy, so he must have used the Infiniti to make the first buy, and then went with his grandmother and I'm sure she had no idea what he had just done with the Infiniti, and then goes and buys the Toyota. He trades in the Infiniti, 2,500 bucks is what they got for the trade-in value and she wrote a check for the rest. The first certificate of title

issued May 1st of 2013 is in both of their names but it's his physical address. It's where the car is being kept. There is no testimony that she ever drove it. He's the one that drove it and whether or not she said just for school and work, he clearly was the one in actual possession of it. Used it for the next two times that he sold drugs. He is clearly the one when I look at the factors under State v. Kirch that has possession of the vehicle. The fact that he ran and gave up his interest per title three days after it was seized is very telling to the Court of evidence, acknowledgement, that, oh boy, guilt on his part. He clearly was in possession of it. It was titled in both of their names until a couple of days after the seizure. He clearly was in control of it and he did have a financial stake in that vehicle. He put 2,500 of the Infiniti in there least one payment and he made at to his grandmother. Now that's not to say that I don't recognize that the primary financial stake issue here falls on Ms. Vogel. She's the one that wrote the \$20,000 check for it, but I think it's pretty clear to the Court despite what she may say now that she bought it for him and he was just supposed to pay her what he could. But in all other aspects of it, it was his car. And therefore when I look at the factors of Kirch, I do find that she was only a nominal owner basically just in name and that he was the actual owner here and that the vehicle is subject to forfeiture under 961.55.

R19:52-57.

A review of the record supports the trial court's decision. The factors to be considered when determining ownership of motor vehicles for purposes of the forfeiture of any vehicle used in the commission of a criminal offense are possession, title, control and financial stake. *State v. Kirch*, 222 Wis.2d at 606-607. Holding title to the

automobile does not, in and of itself, prove actual legal ownership of an automobile for purposes of a forfeiture. *Id*.

It is undisputed that the state established that Baumgard was driving the 2013 Toyota Corolla while dealing drugs in the City of Whitewater on April 24, 2013, May 1, 2013 and May 8, 2013, and that the vehicle was registered to both Baumgard, and Baumgard's grandmother, Gladys Vogel at the time of those drug sales. R19:4, 11-13, 22, 25-26.

Following the seizure of the 2013 Toyota Corolla, Deputy Daniel Winger spoke with Baumgard on June 14, 2013. R19:8. At that time, Deputy Winger ran the vehicle's registration through the Wisconsin Department of Justice Crime Bureau Information, TIME system, and learned that the vehicle was registered to Baumgard and Vogel. R19:11-12. Baumgard, however, claimed that he owned the Toyota Corolla. R19:8. Baumgard explained that his grandmother, Vogel, had bought the vehicle for him and that he was paying her back. R19:8-9, 15. Baumgard claimed that he paid for the vehicle's insurance, gas and maintenance. R19:9. Baumgard stated that his grandmother did not drive the vehicle, and that he did not live with his grandmother, but lived with his mother at an address different from his grandmother's. R19:9. Baumgard also took personal items out

of the vehicle when it was seized by officers on June 14, 2013. R19:10, 11.

After speaking with Baumgard, Deputy Winger spoke with Baumgard's grandmother, Gladys Vogel, on June 18, 2013. R19:10-11. Ms. Vogel told Deputy Winger that the Toyota was registered in her name only, and that was done a couple of days ago. R19:12-13. Ms. Vogel did not ask Deputy Winger to have any personal items retrieved from the car. R19:13

At the hearing, Ms. Vogel further testified that she is Baumgard's grandmother and that she is the owner of the Toyota Corolla. R19:17-18. Ms. Vogel testified that she purchased the Toyota Corolla on April 24, 2013. R19:18. Ms. Vogel testified that she paid \$20,000 for the vehicle and Baumgard traded in his vehicle towards the purchase price of the Toyota. R19:19-19, 26. Ms. Vogel explained that the title was initially put in her and Baumgard's name because "[Baumgard] didn't have no money to pay down or anything on it. And, I said, well, I'll put my name along on the title and we'll do it that way and you pay me a certain amount every month." R19:20. Ms. Vogel further testified that she and Baumgard did not have a written agreement and that no fixed payments were established, but that Baumgard was to pay her what he could. R19:20. Two car payments were made by Baumgard to Ms. Vogel. R19:20-21. The first payment in

the amount of \$350.00 was made on May 5, 2013 shortly after the vehicle was purchased, and the second payment in the amount of \$200.00 was made on October 18, 2013 after the vehicle had already been seized. R19:21-22.

Ms. Vogel testified that Baumgard signed the vehicle over to her on June 17, 2013, after the Toyota had been seized by officers. R19:22. When the title was changed to her name only, Vogel stated her address also went on the title, which is different from Baumgard's address. R19:25-26. Although Baumgard is over to her residence a lot, Vogel stated that Baumgard did not live with her when the Toyota was purchase, nor did he live with her after he signed the car over to her. R19:24-25.

Finally, Vogel testified that the seizure of the Toyota Corolla did not cause her to have to purchase another vehicle to drive. R19:24-25. Ms. Vogel stated that she had her own vehicle at the time the Toyota Corolla was purchased and that she still had that vehicle. R19:24.

Vogel stated that she told Baumgard that he could use the Toyota to go to work and school. R19:26.

From this evidence, the trial court concluded that Vogel was a "nominal" owner of the 2013 Toyota Corolla and that Baumgard, who exercised dominion and control over the vehicle, was the "owner" for purposes of vehicle

forfeiture. Although Vogel in large part purchased the vehicle, the evidence supports the conclusion that the vehicle was a gift to Baumgard, and that Baumgard possessed and exercised dominion and control over the actual vehicle. Consequently, the State met its burden of proof. Accordingly, the trial court's decision should be affirmed.

Citing United States v. One 1981 Datsun, 644 F. Supp. 1280 (1986), Vogel argues that the trial court improperly concluded that Baumgard was the owner of the 2013 Toyota Corolla for purposes of vehicle forfeiture. Vogel's reliance on One 1981 Datsun to support her position, however, is misplaced. The facts of the present case are distinguishable from One 1981 Datson.

In One 1981 Datson, on August 22, 1984 Mr. Robert Bogol purchased a Datson and registered the vehicle in his name. Id. at 1282. The Bogol family anticipated that Robert's daughter Roxanne, who resided in Robert's home, would have primary use of the Datsun until around Christmas 1984 when she was expected to have enough money to buy her own car. Id. The vehicle Roxanne was currently driving was experiencing mechanical difficulties. Id. at 1281. When Roxanne purchased her own car, the Datsun was to be used primarily by Robert's wife, Janet. Id at 1282. In the months following the purchase of the Datsun, the car was

primarily driven by Roxanne, but it was also driven by Robert. Roxanne also used the car to give driving lessons to Janet. In November of 1984 Roxanne moved in with her boyfriend but still visited her parents' home. *Id*.

Shortly after moving out of her parents' home, Roxanne was arrested on November 27, 1984 for transporting methamphetamine in the Datson. *Id.* at 1283-84. Upon her arrest, Roxanne told at least one FBI agent that the Datsun belonged to her, even though she did not believe it to be true but said this to prevent her parents' learning about the events of November 27, 1984. Roxanne hoped to recover the car from the FBI before her parents learned of its seizure. *Id.* at 1283.

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